THE EFFECTS OF REGROUPING AND STOCKING DENISTY ON SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR, LYING BEHAVIOUR AND LOCOMOTOR ACTIVITY OF MID AND LATE LACTATION DAIRY COWS

by

Aniseh Talebi

Doctorate of Veterinary Medicine (DVM), The University of Tehran, Iran, 2007

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES

(Animal Science)

THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

(Vancouver)

June 2011

© Aniseh Talebi, 2011

ABSTRACT

In free-stall systems cows are frequently moved among pens and regrouped. This practice involves individuals being mixed with unfamiliar cows, and stocking density often varies from before to after regrouping. Two separate lines of evidence suggest that regrouping and changing densities have negative impacts on cows welfare; but no study to date has assessed the combined effects. The aim of this study was to test the effect of changes in stocking density at the time of regrouping on the competition, feeding and lying behaviours and locomotor activity of dairy cows. By manipulating group size (6 vs. 12 cows) and pen size (12 vs. 24 stalls) three different stocking densities were created (25 %, 50 % and 100 %). Four groups of Holstein cows were regrouped weekly for 4 weeks and the stocking density changed from before to after each regrouping. The change in density varied from a decrease by a factor of 4 (100% to 25%), a decrease by a factor of 2 (100% to 50% or 50% to 25%), no change (50% to 50%), an increase by a factor of 2 (25% to 50% or 50% to 100%) and an increase by a factor of 4 (25% to 100%). Displacement at the feeding area, feeding time, lying time and the number of steps were scored. The daily means for each group were used to calculate the difference in responses from one day before to one day after each regrouping. Competition at the feed bunk changed after regrouping. The nature of the change was dependent upon the change in stocking density; when density decreased the number of displacements decreased. Changes in lying behavior and locomotor activity after regrouping also varied with changes in stocking density; when stocking density decreased lying time increased and number of steps increased. In conclusion, results of this experiment show that the change in competition behaviour from one day before to one day after regrouping varies

with the change in stocking density at regrouping; and this change in competition results in changes in lying time and locomotor activity of cows.

PREFACE

The current study was designed through the collaborative work of Aniseh Talebi and Drs. Dan Weary, Marina von Keyserlingk and Evjenij Telezhenko. Aniseh Talebi was in charge of fulfillment of the project. She conducted the experiment, collected data, analyzed data, reviewed literature, interpreted results and wrote the manuscript under the supervision of Drs Dan Weary and Marina von Keyserlingk. Dr. Evjenij Telezhenko helped in running the first replication and collection of data in October 2009.

A version of Chapter 2 is going to be submitted for publication: Talebi, A., von Keyserlingk, M.A.G., Telezhenko, E., Weary, D.M., 2011. Increased stocking density compounds the negative effects of regrouping on social behaviour, lying behaviour and locomotor activity of dairy cows.

Aniseh Talebi has successfully completed the ethics training requirements of the Canadian Council on Animal Care (CCAC) / National Institutional Animal User Training (NIAUT) Program (Certificate number: 4376-10; Date Issued: September 07, 2010). This research was conducted under the animal care protocol A10-0162 issued by the University of British Columbia Committee on Animal Care.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
PREFACE	iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS	v
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ix
DEDICATION	xi
CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. DAIRY PRODUCTION AND WELFARE	1
1.2. REGROUPING	
1.3. STOCKING DENSITY	6
1.3.1. Group Size	7
1.3.2. Pen Size	
1.4. CHANGING STOCKING DENSITY AT REGROUPING	9
1.5. DAIRY COW BEHAVIOUR	10
1.5.1. Feeding and Lying Behaviour	
1.5.2. Competition and Aggressive Behaviour	
1.5.3. Locomotor Activity	
1.6. RESEARCH OBJECTIVES AND HYPOTHESES	14
1.6.1. Objectives	14

2.2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	. 17
2.2.1. Animals, Housing and Diet	. 17
2.2.2. Experimental Design	. 18
2.2.3. Data Collection	. 19
2.2.4. Data Analysis	. 21
2.3. RESULTS	. 22
2.3.1. Competitive Behaviour	. 22
2.3.2. Lying Behaviour	. 22
2.3.3. Locomotor Activity	. 23
2.3.4. Feeding Behaviour	. 23
2.4. DISCUSSION	. 24
2.4.1. Competitive Behaviour	. 24
2.4.2. Lying Behaviour	. 25
2.4.3. Locomotor Activity	. 26
2.4.4. Feeding Behaviour	. 26
2.5. CONCLUSIONS	. 28
2.6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	. 29

CHAPTER 3: GENERAL DISCUSSION	34
3.1. CONTRIBUTIONS AND IMPLICATIONS	34
3.2. LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH	35

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. Least Square Means ± SE of response variables calculated for the interactions between the levels of change in group size and pen size. Group size has increased by a factor 2 (6 to 12 cows) and decreased by a factor 2 (12 to 6 cows). Pen size has increased by a factor 2 (12 to 24 stalls), did not change (from 12 to 12 or from 24 to 24 stalls) and decreased by a factor 2 (from 24 to 12 stalls). P-values are for tests of the effects of group size, pen size and the interaction between group size and pen size..... 33

LIST OF FIGURES

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank the Animal Welfare Program at University of British Columbia for introducing me to the amazing world of animal welfare science, for helping me understand and resolve the ethical dilemmas I have encountered in my veterinary career, and for giving me a wonderful opportunity to experience the life of a graduate student in a worldclass university.

I offer my enduring gratitude to the inspiring faculty members in this program who taught me not only about animal welfare science but also educated me with an enthusiastic attitude toward life. I owe a particular thanks to my supervisor Dr. Daniel Weary whose penetrating questions and comments on my work taught me to question more deeply and for his wonderful guidance through my graduate study. I am also grateful to Dr. Marina von Keyserlingk for inspiring me as a strong and successful modern woman and for her advice and ideas on my project. Also, I thank Dr. David Fraser for enlarging my vision of animal welfare science, providing coherent answers to my questions and concerns, and teaching me not only animal welfare science but also academic ethics and generous way of spreading knowledge.

I am so grateful to the students and staff at the Animal Welfare Program, the Faculty of Land and Food Systems, and the UBC Dairy Education and Research Centre whose cooperation, understanding, and friendliness helped me to complete my thesis and courses and also made my experience as an international UBC student a memorable one for the rest of my life.

Special thanks are owed to my love, and soon-to-be husband, Danesh Moradi, for his devoted support and amazing understanding through my education at UBC. Above all, I am

grateful to him for encouraging me to pursue my personal goals and not to give up on my dreams, for standing beside me in difficult situations no matter what, for being my best friend of all times and for making the world a better place to me.

I would like to thank my parents and brother; who have provided me a safe and thriving environment at home through out my education. I would like to thank them for supporting me both morally and financially to be my best despite all the difficulties enforced by the social challenges in my homeland, Iran. I appreciate my mother, Fakhri Behdin, for teaching me unconditional love and for making me familiar with the fantastic world of animals. I also would like to thank my father, Davood Talebi, for his devoted support of my education, no matter how hard or far I go, and for making me feel equal in a society where women are often not treated appropriately. I would like to thank my brother, Ali Talebi, for being my play-mate of all times, for being a person to whom I have always looked up and for inspiring me with his unselfish attitude and cheerfulness.

I can not finish this acknowledgement with out saying thanks to the University of Tehran Faculty of Veterinary Medicine where in I lived veterinary medicine for almost a decade and experienced a memorable academic life.

DEDICATION

I dedicate this thesis to the animals in Iran from domestic to wild, from the Caspian sea in the North to the Persian Golf in the South, from the Lout desert in the East to the Zagros mountains in the West, hoping for a day that science-based solutions will be adopted in Iran, helping animals experience a better life.

CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1. DAIRY PRODUCTION AND COW WELFARE

Animal welfare is a growing area of research greatly influenced by social and ethical concerns (Fraser, 2008). Three main areas of concern have been identified: 1) the animal's biological functioning, 2) the animal's affective state and, 3) the animal's ability to live a natural life (Fraser et al., 1997). These three concerns often overlap. For example, in a pen that is overstocked, a lower ranked cow is often required to compete for resources with higher ranked cows. Moreover, in confinement conditions, she is forced to remain in this competitive situation and is unable to leave the group as wild cattle would under natural conditions (natural behaviour). The cow may fear the higher ranked animals and thus withdraw from competition for feed and thereby experience hunger (affective state). These changes may result in a physiological stress response (e.g. release of corticosteroids) that can in turn compromise her ability to cope with disease (biological functioning). The "Five freedoms" is another well-known approach toward animal welfare. These are: 1) freedom from hunger and thirst, 2) freedom from pain, injury and disease, 3) freedom from discomfort, 4) freedom from fear and distress, and 5) freedom to express natural behaviour (Webster, 1994). Although, the five freedoms are broad goals toward which scientists and researchers should move they are not ways of measuring animal welfare (Rushen et al., 2008).

Two main criteria have been used to assess animal welfare: 1) environment-based criteria (input-based) such as housing, management and feeding, and 2) animal-based criteria (outcome-based) such as behaviour, physiology and production (Mench, 2003). The advantage of environment-based criteria is that they can be used to set standards for housing,

management and feeding systems and ideally help to prevent welfare problems that result from mismanagement and inappropriate facilities (Rushen et al., 2008). The advantage of animal-based criteria is that they give researchers the opportunity to measure the state of animals (Rushen et al., 2008). Although many researchers have tried to combine these two criteria to study animal welfare, we lack information on how particular environment-based criteria such as pen size and group size affect animal-based criteria such as feeding and competitive behaviour.

In the last few decades, the effects of dairy production systems on welfare have become topics of increasing interest for researchers. Concerns about the welfare of cattle have focused on housing and techniques used in intensive farming systems, in addition to more traditional concerns around health and nutrition. One specific question is how a particular facility characteristic and management practice influences cows' welfare, and how these can be improved to provide a more comfortable life for these animals.

One of the main characteristics of intensive dairy farms is that they provide limited indoor space for the animals. Tie-stall and free-stall systems are two common types of intensive housing for dairy cows. In tie-stall systems an individual cow is tethered in its stall where she is provided with space that is used both for standing and lying. She is not able to turn around and as a consequence of the tethering may have limited ability to groom herself. Food and water are provided individually and cows are often milked within the stall. In tiestall systems animals are provided with a guaranteed amount of food and water and lying area with no competition, but this housing system can limit the cow's movement and decrease her physical interaction with other cows (Rushen, et al., 2008). In free-stall systems, the feeding and lying areas are separate and cows can move freely between them. Within the pen, cows have free access to food and water and are usually milked in a milking parlour unit, requiring them to leave the pen at least twice daily. Free-stall systems provide the opportunity for the cows to have social contact with other cows and some exercise (Bøe and Færevik, 2003) but depending on the stocking density, cows are often required to compete for access to food, water and lying spaces.

Free-stall systems are also often managed in ways that may negatively impact cow welfare. For instance, in order to feed rations based on stage of lactation, cows are frequently moved among pens and regrouped. This practice results in individuals being mixed with unfamiliar cows; furthermore, the numbers of animals in each pen varies. It has been shown that such mixing and changing of animal numbers in pens can increase physical competition, restrict access to resources (e.g feeding areas and lying stalls) and compromise animal welfare (Zeeb et al., 1988; Miller and Woodgush, 1991; Olofsson, 1999).

1.2. REGROUPING

Cattle establish groups under natural conditions. Formation of cooperative relationships and competitive interactions are the main consequences of group life. Some of the benefits of being a member of a group for cattle are that the cows are able to communicate information about the environment with other members of the group (e.g. food, predators), protect themselves from predators, spend more time foraging and save energy in cold weather by huddling together (Keeling and Gonyou, 2001).

In intensive cattle production, groups are formed based on the management requirements of the producer. Bøe and Færevik (2003) have defined *grouping* as "the formation of a group of animals by natural means (e.g., herd formation as a result of social attraction) or by human action (e.g., allocation of a number of animals to a given pen or grouping of dairy cows according to milking performance)". In free-stall systems, cows that are kept within a pen have the advantage of interacting with other cows and establishing affiliative relationships with other members of the group (Keeling and Gonyou, 2001). However, there are some costs associated with group life. For example, in group life there is a higher chance of contact-transmitted infectious diseases (Fraser and Broom, 2007), and cows housed in a pen with limited feeders and stalls relative to the numbers of cows must compete for these resources (Val-Laillet et al., 2008).

In free-stall systems a cow can be grouped with other cows 4 to 5 times during one lactation (Grant and Albright, 2001). Grouping animals repeatedly is called *regrouping* (also referred to as comingling and mixing; Bøe and Færevik, 2003). Animals are regrouped to form homogenous pens in terms of age, body condition, stage of lactation, milk production, health and reproduction status (Grant and Albright, 2001; Bøe and Færevik, 2003). Having homogenous groups of animals facilitates farm management; for example, it will allow rations to more adequately match the nutritional requirements of individual animals in a group pen (Grant and Albright, 2001).

When a cow joins a group of cows that have an established social order, a new order must be established (Bøe and Færevik, 2003). Social order refers to how individuals rank relative to other animals in the group (Keeling and Gonyou, 2001). Before each regrouping, interactions among group members tend to be non-physical, but after grouping this shifts towards more physical interactions with other members of the new group (Bøe and Færevik, 2003). Such interactions persist until a stable social order is re-established (Lamb, 1975; Kondo and Hurnik, 1990). Kondo and Hurnik (1990) have defined *social stabilization* as "when non-physical agonistic interactions among group members predominate and the ratio of physical to non-physical interaction remains comparatively stable". Changes in social behaviour due to regrouping typically return to normal in approximately 3 days to 2 weeks

after regrouping (e.g. Kondo et al., 1984; Hasegawa et al., 1997; von Keyserlingk et al., 2008). It has been suggested that establishment of a new social order requires approximately one week for dairy cattle (Grant and Albright, 2001; Bøe and Færevik, 2003). The majority of research investigating aspects of social behaviour provide at least one week for the animals to stabilize after each regrouping (Nordlund et al., 2006).

Although competition can always occur among group housed animals (Estevez et al., 2007), repeated grouping of animals increases competitive interactions and interferes with the daily time budget of cows resulting in decreased feeding time and lying time (e.g. von Keyserlingk et al., 2008; Hasegawa, et al., 1997). Although all members of the new group may be affected by the negative consequences of regrouping, it is believed that lower ranked animals are particularly influenced (Bøe and Færevik, 2003). Regrouping may have profound effects on cow behaviour and welfare (Bøe and Færevik, 2003), and farmers require science-based solutions for reducing competitive interactions when forming new groups.

It has been shown that frequent groupings disturb social behaviour in several species. For example, after being grouped with unfamiliar animals, pigs compete more aggressively with other group members to gain access to limited resources (e.g. McGlone and Curtis, 1985; Stookey and Gonyou; 1994). Regrouping disturbs social behaviour and increases aggressive behaviour among laying hens (e.g. Abeyesinghe et al., 2009).

Research on regrouping in dairy cows is minimal. Many of the previous studies on regrouping had not enough numbers of replications (e.g. Hasegawa et al., 1997; Philips and Rind, 2001); other studies are based on limited sample sizes (e.g., Brakel and Leis, 1976; von Keyserlingk et al., 2008); although small groups can be more easily manipulated, the responses may differ from real situations where larger numbers of cows are grouped together.

It is therefore important for new research to focus on the effects of regrouping in larger groups of cows.

1.3. STOCKING DENSITY

Stocking density is defined as the "number of animals per unit of space" and the inverse of stocking density is *space allowance* that is "area of space per animal" (Estevez et al., 2007). As is implied in the definition, group size and pen size are the two factors affecting the stocking density. Stocking density is usually described as the numbers of animals per resource e.g. stall or the feeding area available for each cow. The result of adding animals to a given area or a reduction of the area available to a given numbers of animals is an increase in stocking density (Grant and Albright, 2001; Rushen, et al., 2008). Higher stocking densities may negatively impact the welfare of animals. For example, in highly stocked pens poor air quality or accumulation of manure on the floor may result in health problems such as pneumonia and laminitis (Bowell et al., 2003; Fraser and Broom, 2007).

The negative impact of high stocking densities also has been shown in other species. For example, in laying hens, increased densities can lead to higher mortality, increased feather damage and cannibalism (Simonsen et al., 1980; Adams and Craig, 1984). It has also been shown that sheep housed indoors engage in more competitive behaviour when they have restricted access to feeding troughs due to increased stocking density (Dove, et al., 1974).

Behavioural measures are considered to be important indicators of the cow's welfare in response to changes in housing and management such as changes in stocking density, group size and pen size (Nordlund et al., 2006; Rushen, et al., 2008). For example, Proudfoot et al. (2009) showed that transition cows (i.e. from 3 weeks before calving to 3 weeks after

calving) reduce their feeding time and increase their standing time when overstocked at the feeder. In pigs, stress induced by reducing pen size or increasing group size can decrease daily feed intake and appetite in these animals (Walker, 1991; Gonyou and Stricklin, 1998).

Dairy cattle may experience a range of stocking densities over their life. For example, calves are usually housed individually (i.e. one calf per crate), but after weaning they are put in pens with other heifers forming groups of larger sizes and different densities. At the beginning of their first lactation, heifers are typically grouped with more mature cows forming even larger groups. Research on stocking density has focused on cows in very early and mid stages of lactation, and little research has focused on the effect of stocking density later in lactation (Nordlund et al., 2006). Of the studies available, most show negative effects of increased stocking density on the cow behaviour and welfare. For instance, Fregonesi et al. (2007) found that changing stocking densities from 100% to 150% caused cows to reduce lying time from 12.9 h/d to 11.2 h/d. Similarly, Hill et al. (2009) found that when stocking density increased from 100% to 140%, lying time decreased by over an hour per day.

The majority of previous studies have focused on the effects of overstocking (i.e. less than one stall or less than 60 cm feeding area per cow (e.g. Fregonesi et al., 2007; Hill et al., 2009). On dairy farms, regrouping is often associated with changes in stocking density. For example, a cow may be moved from a pen with a lower stocking density to a pen with a higher stocking density. In addition, the majority of empirical studies undertaken on stocking density are done by either blocking off stalls or feeding positions.

1.3.1. Group size

Numbers of cows in a pen (i.e. group size) varies widely depending on the management requirements, herd size and farm facilities (Grant and Albright, 2001). One of the costs of

being in a large group of animals is that there is more opportunity for competitive encounters over resources (Keeling and Gonyou, 2001; Fraser and Broom, 2007). Behavioural responses to changes in group size have been examined in some farm animal species. For instance, research in laying hens showed that aggressive interactions increase when group size increases (Oden et al., 2000; Estevez et al. 2007). Bøe and Færevik (2003) speculated that a relationship existed between level of aggression and group size in dairy cattle; increasing the number of cows per unit of space will increase the aggressive encounters. Few studies have tested the effect of number of cows introduced to the group on competitive behaviour. Kondo et al. (1989) showed a strong correlation between group size and competitive behaviour in heifers and adult cows but not in calves. To the author's knowledge no study to date has tested how group size influences behaviour of dairy cows after regrouping and changing density.

1.3.2. Pen size

The minimum space around the body that animals normally maintain between one another is defined as *individual distance* (Wilson, 2000). For example, horses try to maintain relatively large individual distances from the higher ranked animals when feeding (Fraser and Broom, 2007). Increasing numbers of animals per space (i.e. increasing stocking density) may make it difficult for the animals to keep their desired distance from other animals. It has been suggested that decreased individual distance may impact some individuals more than others. For instance, group order is often maintained by less aggressive animals performing subtle avoidance behaviours; however, limited space allowance makes it difficult for lower ranked animals to avoid higher ranked ones. The result is that the competition over limited resources may increase (Zeeb et al., 1988; Bøe and Færevik, 2003). Because of the inter-relatedness of stocking density, group size and pen size, separating the effects of each these three factors is a challenge. For example, when testing the effect of stocking density for pens of equal sizes, the number of animals must be manipulated, resulting in changes in stocking density and group size. One solution is to design experiments that consider the effects of stocking density, group size and pen size together (Leone and Estevez, 2008).

1.4. CHANGING STOCKING DENSITY AT REGROUPING

Changing density at regrouping happens in many domestic species. For example, under commercial conditions horses are frequently grouped with unfamiliar animals when moved to new locations, when being sold to new owners, or even when mixed with other horses while grazing for a part of the day. In these situations group members vary as well as the group size, both affecting social order and increasing aggressive competition among horses (Gonyou and Stricklin, 1998; Houpt and Keiper, 1982).

Two separate streams of studies have suggested that: 1) regrouping and changing densities independently have negative impacts on cows' welfare, and 2) the impact of an increase in density on the welfare of dairy cows would even be greater if this occurs at the same time as regrouping. However, no studies to date have tested the effect of changing density at the time of regrouping in dairy cattle. In addition, to the best of my knowledge no experiments to date have tested the effects of group size and pen size during grouping of any species (Bøe and Faerevik, 2003). The only related study, done on pigs (Hyun et al., 1998), reported that grouping and increasing density reduced growth rate and changed feeding behaviour. In this latter study the authors increased stocking density by reducing pen size but did not change the group size.

Some researchers have also suggested that stocking dairy cattle at higher densities at regrouping is the underlying reason for some emerging health problems in these animals. Nordlund et al. (2006) suggested that the increase in the incidence of ketosis after calving in recent years could be attributed to transition cows being frequently regrouped and overstocked in modern dairy systems. Changing density at regrouping may have suppressive effects on these animals' immune system by restricting their access to resources (feed, stall) and also by increasing competition over these resources. Behavioural changes such as increased competitive behaviour and decreased feeding time and lying time can be used as early indicators of dairy cattle welfare problems in response to changes in density at the time of regrouping (Nordlund et al., 2006).

1.5. DAIRY COW BEHAVIOUR

1.5.1. Feeding and Lying Behaviour

In recent decades scientists have described daily time budgets of dairy cows in free-stall systems. According to Grant and Albright (2000), a typical cow spends an average of 3 - 5 h / d feeding, 12 - 14 h / d lying down and 2 - 3 h / d engaged in social interactions in a free-stall environment. The remaining time is spent ruminating, drinking and outside the pen (e.g. milking). Changes in the typical time budget can be used as indicators of management, housing and health problems (Rushen et al., 2008).

It has been shown that feeding and lying behaviours of dairy cows are related. For example, dairy cows need to rest for a certain amount of time per day and are willing to give up some of their other behaviours (e.g. feeding) to achieve this rest requirement (e.g. Metz, 1985; Hill et al., 2009; Munksgaard et al., 2005). In a classic study, Metz (1985) showed that by restricting feeding and lying simultaneously, cows prefer to lie rather than eat. More

recently, Munksgaard et al. (2005) showed that early and late lactating cows spend more time lying down than feeding under conditions of restricted access to stalls and feeders. In addition, in some studies, it has been shown that when overstocked, dairy cows prefer to rest rather than to eat after being milked (e.g. Hill et al., 2009). These studies show that there is a relationship between feeding and lying behaviour and stocking density and suggest that feeding and lying times are useful measures when assessing the effects of changes in stocking density.

1.5.2. Competition and Aggressive Behaviour

Competition is defined as "striving of two or more individuals to obtain a resource that is in limited supply" (Fraser and Broom, 2007). A competitive behaviour can be expressed in physical (e.g. butting, pushing) or non-physical ways (e.g. eye contact, threatening to butt, etc.). Aggressive competitive behaviour is described as the physical action of an animal to make another animal (usually lower ranked) withdraw from the resources (Fraser and Broom, 2007). Aggressive behaviour can cause fear, pain and injury and usually increases when resources are limited and animals are forced to compete. A displacement occurs when a cow's head or any other parts of her body comes into contact with another cow's body when it is using a resource (e.g. when feeding) causing her to withdraw from the resource (Huzzey et al., 2006; Fraser and Broom, 2007). Some studies have used competitive behaviour as a primary indicator of cow welfare in relation to changes in management and housing (e.g. Hasegawa et al., 1997; DeVries et al., 2004). Some of these studies also tested the effects of competition on other indicators of cow welfare such as feeding behaviour and lying behaviour (as secondary indicators of welfare) (e.g. Huzzey et al., 2006; Hill et al., 2009).

When spatial access to food and lying areas are decreased, the level of competition is expected to increase (Bøe and Færevik, 2003). Even in situations of unlimited access to feeding and resting resources, dairy cows may still compete for feeders and stalls but this level of competition is believed to have minimal effects on feeding and resting behaviours (Dado and Allen, 1994; Olofsson, 1999). It has been suggested that in free-stall systems the level of competition is higher at the feeding area than the lying area (Miller and Woodgush, 1991; Val-Laillet et al., 2008). The higher level of competition at the feeding area might be because cows are highly motivated to feed at the same time (i.e. after milking and when new feed is delivered; DeVries et al., 2003) and also because cows tend to move along the feeding area when eating, with the higher ranked cows preferring more space (Nordlund et al., 2006). Although feeding space measured for each cow varies among studies (e.g. 0.45 m feeding space / cow, Endres and Espejo, 2010; 0.52 to 0.56 m feeding space / cow, Caraviello et al., 2006), it is typically recommended that at least 0.6 cm of feed bunk should be provided for each cow to enable all cows to access feed simultaneously during peak feeding periods (e.g. after delivery of fresh feed; Grant and Albright, 2001; NFACC, 2009).

Although physiological mechanisms control feeding behaviour, it is also suggested that feeding behaviour is greatly influenced by the environment and feeding systems (Mertens, 1994). Olofsson (1999) showed that by reducing the number of feeders, competition at the feeding area increased, and feeding time and feed intake decreased. Zeeb et al (1988) also showed that competition at the feeding area is higher when the ratio of feeding places to animals is less than 1/1. Recent research has confirmed that competition at the feeding area is affected by the amount of feeding space available. For example, Huzzey et al. (2006) showed that as the stocking density increased at the feed bunk (from 0.81 to 0.21 m feeding space / cow) cows were displaced more often from the feeding area and as competition at the feed

bunk increased feeding time decreased. In another example, DeVries et al. (2004) showed that as the stocking density decreased (from 0.5 to 1 m feeding space / cow) competition over feed decreased and feeding time increased. These studies also suggested that the effect of changes in density on feeding behaviour of dairy cows were more pronounced within 60 - 90 min after the delivery of fresh feed.

Some studies have tested the effects of regrouping of dairy cows on competitive behaviour. For example, Hasegawa et al. (1997) showed that regrouping disturbs social order in first-lactation heifers and increases competitive behaviour. Other studies have tried to show the consequences of increased competition on feeding and lying behaviour. von Keyserlingk et al. (2008) found that after regrouping, dairy cows increased competition at the feed bunk as well as decreased time spent lying. Schirmaan et al. (2011) showed that regrouping has negative effects on social behaviour, feed intake, feeding rate and rumination of dry cows (i.e. 3 months before parturition when cows are not milked).

1.5.3. Locomotor Activity

Cows walk when searching for food, water and resting areas, exploring the environment and avoiding threats (e.g. the aggressive behaviour of higher ranked animals). In social animals such as dairy cows, movements by some animals may elicit the movement of others (Fraser and Broom, 2007). Locomotor activity can also be affected by stocking density. For example, increasing stocking density decreases movements in broilers (Weeks et al., 2000); however, these changes are often accompanied by increased body weight and associated lameness may also restrict mobility in broilers (Newberry and Hall, 1990; Weeks et al., 2000). In another example, Leone and Estevez (2008) showed that as stocking density

decreased, exploratory behaviour, distance travelled and the individual distance between animals increased resulting in increased movements of broilers within the pen.

It has been suggested that dairy cows decrease locomotor activity at higher densities simply because less space is available to move and lower ranked cows do not have enough space to escape the aggressive behaviour of higher ranked cows (e.g. Olofsson; 1999; DeVries et al., 2004). However, other studies have suggested that locomotor activity may increase at higher densities because increased competition forces cows to move to access resources or escape competitors (Zeeb et al., 1988; Bøe and Færevik, 2003). No study to date has tested the effect of stocking density (or regrouping) on locomotor activity in dairy cows.

1.6. RESEARCH OBJECTIVES AND HYPOTHESES

1.6.1. Objectives

The objectives of this study were to examine how changing stocking density at the time of regrouping affects: 1) competition as the primary indicator of cows' welfare, 2) feeding behaviour, 3) lying behaviour, and 4) locomotor activity as secondary indicators of welfare as a consequence of changes in competition. An additional objective was to assess these changes in terms of group size and pen size after accounting for the effect of density.

1.6.2. Hypotheses

I predicted that numbers of displacements at the feed bunk would increase on the day after regrouping as an indicator of increased aggressive competition over feed. When stocking density changed at the time of regrouping in our experiment, I expected competition to vary with the nature of the change in stocking density. For example, I expected that when stocking density decreased dairy cows would show less competition at the feeding area on the day after regrouping compared to the day before, but when stocking density did not change I expected cows to increase competition due to regrouping.

I also hypothesized that regrouping and changing density would affect lying behaviour and feeding behaviour. For instance, I predicted at the time of regrouping, increased stocking density would result in decreased lying time and feeding time. I also predicted that locomotor activity would change on the day after regrouping; for example, cows moved to higher density groups would increase locomotor activity.

I also expected that after accounting for the effect of density additional effects of changes in group size and pen size (as the forming factors of stocking density) would influence the outcome variables.

CHAPTER 2: INCREASED STOCKING DENISTY COMPOUNDS THE NEGATIVE EFFECTS OF REGROUPING ON SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR, LYING BEHAVIOUR AND LOCOMOTOR ACTIVITY OF DAIRY COWS

2.1. INTRODUCTION

In free-stall systems cows have the opportunity for social contact with other cows (Bøe and Færevik, 2003), but are often required to compete for access to resources including feed and stalls. Regrouping and changing stocking density are two management practices that increase this competition (e.g. Miller and Woodgush, 1991; Hasegawa et al., 1997; Olofsson, 1999), potentially compromising cow welfare.

On commercial farms, cows are frequently moved and regrouped to form groups similar in age, stage of lactation, milk production, health and reproductive status (Grant and Albright, 2001; Bøe and Færevik, 2003). Cows often experience four to five regrouping events during one lactation (Grant and Albright, 2001). Research on the effects of regrouping in dairy cows is minimal (von Keyserlingk et al., 2008), and some work on regrouping suffers from poor replication and limited sample size (e.g. Brakel and Leis, 1976; Hasegawa et al., 1997). Previous work suggests that mixing cows with unfamiliar animals that already have an established social order destabilize the social dynamic in the group (Bøe and Færevik, 2003). After regrouping, dairy cows increase physical competition (e.g. Kondo and Hurnik, 1990; Bøe and Færevik, 2003) and this increased competition can result in reduced lying and feeding time further compromising welfare (e.g. Philips and Rind, 2001; von Keyserlingk et al., 2008; Schirmaan et al., 2011).

Regrouping may also affect the stocking density within the pen, which also affects competitive encounters among cows (Bøe and Faerevik, 2003). Increasing stocking density

can increase competition over feed, and decrease the time a cow spends feeding and lying down (e.g. Huzzey et al., 2006; Fregonesi et al., 2007).

Some authors have speculated that locomotor activity may increase at higher densities, because increased competition may force cows to move to access resources or escape competitors (Zeeb et al., 1988; Bøe and Færevik, 2003). Others have argued that dairy cows may decrease locomotor activity when housed at higher densities because less space is available and cows are unable to escape the aggressive behaviour of other cows (Estevez et al., 2007; Fraser and Broom, 2007). Research on chickens has shown that locomotor activity is affected by stocking density, group size and pen size (e.g. Leone and Estevez, 2008) but no study to date has tested the effect of stocking density (or regrouping) on locomotor activity in dairy cows.

Separate lines of experimental work suggest that both regrouping and increased stocking density have negative impacts on cows, but to date no study has assessed the combined effects despite that these practices are often combined on commercial farms. Thus the aim of this study was to evaluate competitive, feeding and lying behaviours and locomotor activity of dairy cows when being regrouped into pens with varying densities. We predicted that competition would increase when density increased at regrouping, which in turn would cause a reduction in feeding and lying time and an increase in locomotor activity.

2.2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.2.1. Animals, Housing and Diet

This experiment was performed at the University of British Columbia's Dairy Education and Research Centre (Agassiz, British Columbia, Canada) and used 72 lactating Holstein cows. Experimental cows were selected randomly from mid and late lactation cows in the herd with average parity of 2.6 ± 1.84 (mean \pm standard deviation; range 1 to 9), average DIM of 204 ± 47 (range 125 to 296) and average milk production of 19 ± 3.5 kg (range 12 to 29.5). Cows were managed in compliance with the guidelines set by the Canadian Council on Animal Care (CCAC, 2009).

Cows were housed in either small pens (7.5 m * 13.5 m) with 12 stalls or large pens (15 m * 13.5 m) with 24 stalls, configured in 3 rows of 4 stalls (small pen) or 8 stalls separated by a cross-over alley (large pen; Figure 2.1.). Cows were fed a total mixed ration consisting of 27.2 % corn silage, 16.7 % grass silage, 8.5 % alfalfa hay and 47.6 % concentrate and mineral mix on dry matter (DM) basis. Major ingredients of concentrate include fine ground barley, rolled barley, rolled corn, distillers corn wheat blend, canola meal, and soybean meal. Feed was formulated based on National Research Council (NRC, 2001) recommendations. Water was available ad libitum. Milking took place twice a day from 5:00 a.m. to 6:00 a.m. and from 3:00 to 4:00 p.m. Fresh feed was delivered twice daily during each milking so that cows had access to the fresh feed when they returned to their pens.

2.2.1. Experimental Design

Two replicates were conducted each lasting five weeks; the first replicate took place in October and November 2009 and the second in April and May 2010. In each replicate, 24 cows were randomly selected as focal cows and 12 others as non-focal cows. Focal cows were randomly assigned to four groups of six cows each; non-focal cows were assigned to two groups of "filler cows".

Three different stocking densities (25 %, 50 % and 100 %) were calculated based on a per cow access to a resource (feed bunk or lying stall) and by manipulating group size (6 versus 12 cows) and pen size (small versus large; Figure 2.2). Gates were moved to form

small and large pens and six non-focal cows used to change the group size. Focal cows remained in the same pen throughout the experiment but non-focal cows were moved upon return from morning milking and grouped with focal cows to form the large groups (12 cows) and remained in the same pen for 7 days. All experimental pens were separated by non-experimental pens. Densities at the feed bunk were: 2.5 m / cow (25 %), 1.25 m / cow (50 %) and 0.63 m / cow (100 %) and at the lying stalls were 4 stalls / cow (25 %), 2 stalls / cow (50 %) and 1 stall / cow (100 %).

To assess the effects of different stocking densities at the same time as regrouping we examined the effect of decreasing density by a factor of 4 (100 % to 25 %), 2 (100 % to 50 % or 50 % to 25 %), or no change (50 % to 50 %) and increasing density by a factor of 2 (50 % to 100 % or 25 % to 50 %) or 4 (25 % to 100 %). For example, we increased number of cows from 6 to 12 and decreased lying stalls from 24 to 12 to increase stocking rate by a factor of 4 (25 % to 100 %; Figure 2.2.) or in the case of no change increased the group size from 6 to 12 and increased the pen size from 12 to 24 (50 % to 50 %).

Stocking density treatments were applied to groups of cows combined with a regrouping event using the design shown in Figure 2.2. Given the complex nature of the treatments we were not able to maintain equal number of replicates per treatment: each treatment was replicated 4 times with the exception of when density decreased or increased by a factor of 4 in which case there were only 2 replicates (see Figure 2.2.). Cows were regrouped every 7 days.

2.2.3. Data Collection

Pens were monitored 24 h / d using 16 digital cameras (WV-BP330, Panasonic, Osaka, Japan). Small and large pens had two and four cameras, respectively. Videos were recorded

using a digital video surveillance system (GeoVision, version 8.3, GeoVision Inc, Corona, California). A red light (100 W) was placed beside each camera to improve the video quality at night. Each focal cow was dyed (see Huzzey et al., 2005) on its back and sides with individually distinct symbols to aid in identification.

Feeding and lying time were scored using scan sampling every 5-min from one day before to one day after regrouping. Cows were considered to be feeding when the neck collar was beyond the feed rail.

To record displacements, videos were watched continuously for 3 hours following the afternoon fresh feed delivery (from approximately 3:30 p.m. to 6:30 p.m.) one day before and one day after regrouping using Observer video-pro (version 5.0, Noldus Information Technology, Wageningen, Netherlands). A cow was recorded as the actor when she initiated the competitive displacement at the feed bunk which involved physical body contact with another cow's body while feeding, resulting in the other cow withdrawing her head from the feed rail (reactor).

Locomotor activity sensors (IceTagTM and IceTagTM 3D 1.008, IceRobotics Ltd, Midlothian, Scotland, UK) were attached to the lateral side of hind leg of each focal cow. Each week data were downloaded using software (IceTag Analyzer for IceTagTM and IceTagTM 3D 1.001/1.008, IceRobotics Ltd, Midlothian, Scotland, UK) programmed to extract data for every hour. In this study the term "number of steps" refers to the number of steps measured by IceTags. Tags were alternated between the two hind legs on alternate weeks for the duration of the experiment. Periods of time when cows were outside of the pen during milking were excluded from the final data set.

2.2.4. Data Analysis

Cows were treated as observational unit and pens as experimental unit. Inter-observer reliability was tested between the two trained observers (15 observations for each of feeding, lying and displacement variables) using regression and the results showed strong agreement ($R^2 > 0.98$).

Proc Univariate in SAS (version 9.2, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, North Carolina, USA) was used to evaluate distributions for normality and the presence of outliers. An observation was considered as an extreme outlier when it was more than three times outside the interquartile range; three observations for the displacements and one for the lying time were identified as outliers and excluded. Activity sensor recordings from three cows were also excluded due to missing values. One cow was in the estrus and was excluded from all analyses.

For all variables, data were summarized to create one observation per day before, and one day after each regrouping for each group. The means were used to calculate the difference in responses from the day before to the day after regrouping. This difference contributed to one observation for each group and treatment, a total of 32 observations. Proc Mixed in SAS was used to detect the effect of different stocking densities tested as a continuous effect (1 d. f.), group size (categorical, 1 d. f.), pen size (categorical, 2 d. f.) and the interaction between group and pen size (2 d. f.) on all dependent variables; these effects were tested in order using the htype=1 option in SAS. Pen and replicate were included in the model as random effects.

2.3. RESULTS

2.3.1. Competitive Behaviour

On the day before regrouping, focal cows engaged in displacements at the feeding area approximately 6 times / pen during the 3 hours after delivery of fresh feed in the afternoon. After regrouping the number of displacements changed depending upon the change in stocking density (Figure 2.3.; F = 10.48, d. f. =1, 18; P = 0.004). For instance, the number of displacements declined by approximately 8 events / 3 h when stocking density decreased by a factor 4 on the day after regrouping. In contrast, when stocking density increased by a factor 4, the number of displacements increased by approximately 14 events / 3 h.

After accounting for the effect of density, there was no additional effect of changes in group size or pen size or the interaction between group size and pen size on changes in the number of displacements at the feeder (Table 2.1). When stocking density remained stable the number of displacements did not change on the day after regrouping.

2.3.2. Lying Behaviour

The day before regrouping, focal cows averaged 13.5 h / d lying down and changes in this behaviour after regrouping again varied with changes in stocking density (F = 23.88, d. f. = 1, 18; P = 0.0001). For example, when density decreased by a factor of 4 at the time of regrouping, the amount of time cows spent lying down increased by approximately 1.2 h / d. Conversely when density increased by a factor of 4, lying time decreased by approximately 0.6 h / d. After accounting for the effect of denisty, the change in time spent lying down after regrouping did not vary with the change in group size, pen size or the interaction between

group size and pen size. When stocking density did not change, lying time did not change on the day after regrouping.

2.3.3. Locomotor Activity

Focal cows averaged 444 steps / d on the day before regrouping. Changes in number of steps from one day before to one day after regrouping varied with changes in stocking density at regrouping (F = 4.47, d. f. = 1, 18; P=0.04). For example, when the stocking density decreased by a factor of 4 the number of steps declined by approximately 83 steps / d; however, where density increased by a factor of 4 the number of steps increased by approximately 17 steps / d. After accounting for the effect of density, changes in the number of steps after grouping did not vary with changes in pen size or the interaction between these factors. When stocking density did not change (i.e. group size and space size changed relatively), locomotor activity did not change on the day after regrouping.

2.3.4. Feeding Behaviour

On the day before regrouping focal cows spent approximately 5 h / d at the feeder. There was no change in this behaviour in relation to changes in stocking density at regrouping (F = 0.69, d. f. = 1, 18; P = 0.41). However, changes in feeding time after regrouping did vary with changes in group size (F = 4.75, d. f. = 1, 18; P = 0.04). For example, when group size decreased by a factor of 2 (from 12 to 6 cows) at the time of regrouping, feeding time decreased by approximately 0.4 h / d. Conversely, when the group size increased by a factor 2 (from 6 to 12 cows) feeding time increased by approximately 0.5 h / d. There was no effect of changes in pen size or the interaction between group size and

pen size. Even when stocking density did not change, feeding time changed on the day after regrouping.

2.4. DISCUSSION

2.4.1. Competitive Behaviour

On the day before regrouping, focal cows were involved in approximately 8 displacement encounters during the 3 hours after delivery of fresh feed. This value is similar to the results of other studies on competitive behaviour in dairy cows (e.g. 10 times / 3 h; von Keyserlingk et al., 2006). Results of this study indicate that aggressive competition over resources increases after regrouping and supports findings of previous studies (e.g. Brakel and Leis, 1976; Hasegawa et al., 1997; von Keyserlingk et al., 2008). Regrouping disturbs social behaviour in other farm animals including pigs (e.g. McGlone and Curtis, 1985; Stookey and Gonyou, 1994) and laying hens (e.g. Abeyesinghe et al., 2009). It is well known that when stocking density increases, competition among cows at the feeding area also increases (e.g. Olofsson, 1999; DeVries and von Keyserlingk, 2006). Similar studies in calves (Kondo et al., 1989) and transition cows (e.g. Proudfoot et al., 2009) also show that increasing stocking density increased aggressive competition over feed. Results of our study agree with these previous studies showing that increased stocking density at regrouping increased the number of displacements at the feeding area during the 3 h following fresh feed delivery when cows are highly motivated to feed (e.g. DeVries and von Keyserlingk, 2005).

On dairy farms stocking density often changes at the time of regrouping. Although previous work has studied the impact of changes in stocking density on the welfare of dairy cows and other work has investigated the impact of regrouping, to date no studies have tested the effects of changes in density when cows are regrouped. The current study addresses this gap in the literature by showing that regrouping and changing stocking density both have negative impacts on the cow. Results of our study indicate that changes in the number of displacements at the feed bunk after regrouping varied with the change in stocking density (i.e. when stocking density increased number of displacements increased on the day after regrouping, and when stocking density decreased this measure declined). Moreover, to our knowledge, no experiment to date has tested the effects of group size and pen size during regrouping in any species. The only related study, which was done on pigs (Hyun et al., 1998), reported that grouping and reducing pen size reduced growth rate and changed feeding behaviour.

2.4.2. Lying Behaviour

On the day before regrouping, cows in the current study spent approximately 13.5 h / d lying down; this value is within the range found by other studies (12 - 14 h / d; e.g. DeVries and von Keyserlingk, 2006; Huzzey et al., 2006). Results of the few studies available on the effects of regrouping and stocking density on lying behaviour of dairy cattle suggest that cows spend less time lying down due to increased competition after regrouping (e.g. Hasegawa et al., 1997; Philips and Rind, 2001; von Keyserlingk et al., 2008) and increasing stocking density (e.g. Fregonesi et al., 2007; Hill et al., 2009; Proudfoot et al., 2009).

Studies on the effects of regrouping and changing densities on lying behaviour of dairy cows indicate that these practices can cause dairy cows to spend less time lying down. Our results are consistent with these previous studies, and also indicate that regrouping *and* stocking density together influence lying behaviour and more specifically indicate that changes in lying behaviour due to regrouping are dependent upon changes in stocking density. Our

results showed that lying time decreased when stocking density increased and increased when stocking density decreased.

2.4.3. Locomotor Activity

The current study was the first to test the effects of stocking density and regrouping on the locomotor activity in dairy cows. Previous studies have used increases in the number of steps to detect estrus in dairy cattle in order to predict ovulation time and improve success of artificial insemination (e.g. Arney et al., 1994; Maatje et al., 1997). Though there is no published research available on the effects of stocking density on locomotor activity of adult dairy cows, some authors have suggested that locomotor activity may increase at higher densities because of higher numbers of competitive encounters (Zeeb et al, 1988; Bøe and Færevik, 2003). To our knowledge the only related paper on this topic is the study by Veissier et al. (2001) who reported increased locomotor activity in calves after regrouping.

Changes in the number of steps from one day before to one day after regrouping varied with the changes in stocking density at regrouping; as stocking density increased at regrouping numbers of steps increased. These results agree with Zeeb et al. (1988) and Bøe and Færevik (2003) who suggested that increased competition due to increased density may force cows to compete for access to resources, or escape competitors, leading to an increase in locomotor activity. Increased locomotor activity after increasing stocking density at regrouping may also relate to the reduced lying time. Ice-tags data was downloaded during the period between morning and afternoon milking on the day after regrouping in first replicate. I expect that if this period was included the change in number of steps would be more prominent.

2.4.4. Feeding Behaviour

On the day before regrouping focal cows spent approximately 5 h / d at the feeding area. This result is similar to previous studies indicating that dairy cows spend an average of 3 - 5 h / d feeding (e.g. DeVries and von Keyserlingk, 2006; Huzzey et al., 2006). The few studies available on the effects of regrouping on feeding behaviour of dairy cows suggest that this practice may negatively impact feeding behaviour due to changes in social order and increased competitive behaviour (e.g. Hasegawa et al., 1997; Philips and Rind; 2001). Decreases in feeding time in response to increased stocking density at the feeding area, likely occur as a result of the increase in competitive interactions over feed (e.g. Olofsson, 1999; DeVries et al., 2004; Huzzey et al., 2006). We predicted that feeding time would decrease as the stocking density increased at regrouping, but we found no consistent change in this behaviour. Some previous studies on regrouping and stocking density also found no effects of these practices on the time dairy cows spent feeding. For example, Hill et al. (2009) found that increasing density decreased lying time but did not affect feeding time. von Keyserlingk et al. (2008) found that regrouping caused dairy cows to increase competition over feed, but not change time spent feeding on the next 3 days after regrouping.

Why have some studies demonstrated an effect of changing density and regrouping on feeding time while others have not? One explanation may be that the studies that demonstrated effects changed stocking density only by restricting feeding space and did not change pen size or number of stalls (e.g. Olofsson, 1999; DeVries et al., 2004; Huzzey et al., 2006). In contrast, studies that did not demonstrate the effects of stocking density on feeding behaviour restricted access to both lying stalls and feeding area. Previous studies suggested that cow are willing to give up some of their behaviours (e.g. feeding) in order to lie down during situations of having limited access to these resources (e.g. Metz, 1985; Hill et al.,

2009; Munksgaard et al., 2005). We speculated that when stocking density increases at the feeding area some cows may give up feeding and leave the feeding area to lie down. Such situations may result in a reduction in the average time spent feeding for the pen. When both lying stalls and feeding space are restricted, those animals are also less able to lie down and spend more time standing. It is likely that some of this time will be spent in the feeding area thus reducing the chance of finding differences in feeding time.

Group size and pen size both affect stocking density, but work examining the effects of group size and pen size is minimal and the results to date are contradictory (e.g. Kondo et al., 1989). Furthermore, to date no experiments have measured the effects of group size and pen size during regrouping and changing density in dairy cows (Bøe and Faerevik, 2003). Because of the inter-relatedness of stocking density, group size and pen size separating the effects of each of these three factors is a challenge (Leone and Estevez, 2008). Our experimental design enabled us to test the effects of group size and pen size on the outcome variables. Results showed that after accounting for the effect of density, only one of the behavioural measures varied with group size; when group size decreased feeding time decreased and when group size increased feeding time increased. It has been shown that by increasing the number of male lambs in a pen, time spent feeding increases (Jenkins and Leymaster, 1987). This increase in feeding time may be because animals follow the behaviour of other animals (i.e. social facilitation; e.g. Cooper et al., 2008).

2.5. CONCLUSIONS

Two separate lines of evidence have demonstrated that regrouping and increased stocking density increase competition and affect feeding and lying behaviour. The current study was the first to show the effects of these two management practices in combination. Our findings indicate that by increasing stocking density at regrouping, aggressive competition over feed increases and this behavioural change interferes with the daily time budget of cows leading to decreased lying time and increased locomotor activity. Our results indicate that famers may be able to alleviate the negative effects of regrouping on behaviour and welfare of dairy cows by reducing stocking density. Our experimental design considered group size and pen size in addition to stocking density and showed that changes in feeding time after regrouping varied with the change in group size independent of density.

2.6. ACKNOWLEGEMENTS

We would like to thank faculty, staff and students at The University of British Columbia's Animal Welfare Program and the University's Dairy Education and Research Centre. The Animal Welfare Program is funded by Canada's NSERC Industrial Research Chair Program with industry contributions from the Dairy Farmers of Canada (Ottawa, ON, Canada), Westgen Endowment Fund (Milner, BC, Canada), Pfizer Animal Health (Kirkland, QC, Canada), BC Cattle Industry Development Fund (Kamloops, BC, Canada), the BC Milk Producers (Burnaby, BC, Canada), BC Dairy Foundation (Burnaby, BC, Canada), BC Dairy Education and Research Association (Abbotsford, BC, Canada), and Alberta Milk (Edmonton, AB, Canada).





Figure 2.2. Time course of change in pen size and group size used to create different densities in each replicate. Large white rectangles show the large pens and small white rectangles show the small pens. Numbers within boxes show the number of cows in each pen. Arrows show change in densities imposed to each regrouping.



Figure 2.3. Behavioural differences from one day before to one day after imposing changes in stocking density. Means (\pm S.E.M.) are shown separately for: displacement events in feeding area (a) time spent on lying (b) and, number of steps (c). Change in density varied from decrease density by a factor 4 and by a factor 2, no change in density (0), increase density by a factor 2 and by a factor 4.



Table 2.1. Least Square Means \pm SE of response variables calculated for the interactions between the levels of change in group size and pen size. Group size has increased by a factor 2 (6 to 12 cows) and decreased by a factor 2 (12 to 6 cows). Pen size has increased by a factor 2 (12 to 24 stalls), did not change (from 12 to 12 or from 24 to 24 stalls) and decreased by a factor 2 (from 24 to 12 stalls). P-values are for tests of the effects of group size, pen size and the interaction between group size and pen size.

	Changes in group size and pen size						P-values		
	Group size 🕈			Group size 🕇			Group	Pen	0
Changes in:	Pen [♠]	Pen =	Pen 🕇	Pen 🕈	Pen =	Pen↓	size	size	Goup^Pen
Displacements (#/3h)	-12±11	4±9	-9±11	9±11	9±7	2±05	0.23	0.45	0.66
Lying time (h)	-0.2±0.4	0.1±0.3	-0.4±0.4	-0.5±0.4	0.2±0.3	0.4±0.5	0.96	0.19	0.26
Steps (#)	57±41	2±33	6±41	-12±41	-50±27	-70±56	0.23	0.24	0.92
Feeding time (h)	0.5±0.4	0.6±0.3	0.8±0.4	-0.1±0.4	-0.3±0.3	0.3±0.6	0.04	0.57	0.90

CHAPTER 3: GENERAL DISCUSSION

3.1. CONTRIBUTIONS AND IMPLICATIONS

Regrouped cows need to cope with two major challenges: 1) being mixed with unfamiliar cows and 2) being grouped in pens at higher densities. Both of these challenges can restrict access to resources, increasing aggressive competition. Moreover, if stocking density increases at regrouping these effects may be more severe. In contrast, when the spatial access to resources increases at the time of regrouping this may allow cows (especially lower ranked cows) to avoid aggressive encounters and have better access to the resources. Aggressive competition over resources can be used as a primary indicator that welfare is compromised. Increases in competition can reduce lying and feeding time and affect locomotor activity, further compromising cow welfare. Therefore the focus of this study was to determine how regrouping and stocking density together affect competition, lying, feeding behaviours and locomotor activity of dairy cattle.

In this study I examined stocking densities 100% and lower (25%, 50%); cows were not overstocked. The majority of previous studies have focused on the effects of overstocking (i.e. less than one stall or less than 60 cm feeding area per cow) on dairy cattle behaviour and welfare (e.g. Huzzey et al., 2006; Fregonesi et al., 2007). Overstocking may accentuate behavioural responses resulting in greater differences. In addition, the majority of studies have changed stocking density by blocking off stalls or feeding positions. One of the advantages of my experimental design was that I changed stocking density by changing the pen size, including the numbers of stalls and feeding space per animal. This method of

changing density makes my results more applicable to commercial dairy farms where changes in stocking density typically affect access to both lying and feeding spaces.

3.2. LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH

Although outcomes of this study contribute to the literature on regrouping and stocking density, there were some limitations that should be addressed in future research. One limitation was that feeding time was scored from video using 5-min scan sampling. A cow was scored as "feeding" when her head was beyond the neck rail, but the camera images are still in each scan and I could not be certain if the cow was actually consuming food. Another limitation with this method is that behaviour was not measured during the interval between each scan. Hill et al. (2009) used 10-min scan sampling to score feeding time and did not find any effect of increased stocking density. Some previous studies (e.g. Schirmann et al., 2011; Proudfoot et al., 2009; Olofsson, 1999), investigating the effects of stocking density on feeding time, used automatic feed monitoring systems that provide more precise and continuous measures of feeding behaviour. These automatic recording systems are also able to measure feeding rate and feed intake. For example, Schirmann et al. (2011) showed that regrouping has negative effects on feed intake and feeding rate. I suggest that future work on regrouping and stocking density use automatic feed recording systems to measure feeding behaviour.

Continuous analysis of videos for recording physical encounters (i.e. displacements) is often used to measure competitive behaviour in dairy cattle. However, competitive behaviour can be expressed in physical (e.g. butting, pushing) or non-physical ways (e.g. eye contact, threatening to butt, etc.; Fraser and Broom, 2007). While scoring the competitive behaviour, I observed some non-physical interactions that resulted in the reactor cow withdrawing from the feed bunk. Unfortunately I was not able to reliably score these interactions as most of these non-physical competitive encounters cannot be seen using video. I therefore recommend that future studies incorporate some live monitoring to record these interactions. Live monitoring would also provide the opportunity to observe additional behaviours, such as vocalization that might be associated with competitive behaviour.

Changes in behaviour of dairy cattle after regrouping and changes in density may be associated with multiple factors such as composition of the group (age, social order, weight; e.g. Hindhede et al., 1999; Veissier et al., 2001), previous social experiences of the animals (Jensen et al., 1997; Veissier et al., 1994; Mench et al., 1990), and duration of regrouping (Hasegawa et al., 1997; Kondo et al., 1984). I recommend that future research on the effects of regrouping and stocking density take these factors into account. For example, it has been shown that social behaviour in dairy cows is affected by early social experience including different rearing methods (single crate or group rearing; e.g. Jensen et al., 1997), visual interaction with other calves (Arave et al., 1992), separation from dam (e.g. Veissier and Le Neindre, 1989). Thus future studies should focus on the role of early social experience on how adult dairy cattle cope with regrouping to higher densities later in life.

Compared with previous research (e.g. Brakel and Leis, 1976; Hasegawa et al., 1997; Philips and Rind, 2001) on regrouping and stocking density I used relatively large groups and pen sizes in my experiment, but these are typically much greater on commercial farms where group sizes in excess of 300 cows are common. I thus recommend that future work on this area also include work done on commercial farms. For example, competitive behaviour can be compared between farms using different regrouping strategies. The outcomes of this study can be used in setting science-based standards for management, housing and feeding systems, ideally helping to prevent welfare problems at dairy farms. The results of my study showed that by reducing stocking density the negative impact of regrouping on cows can be reduced. Thus one recommendation to farmers is to minimize the number regroupings, and to avoid increasing stocking density when regrouping is necessary.

REFERENCES

- Abeyesinghe, S.M., McLeman, M.A., Owen, R.C., McMahon C.E., Wathes C.M., 2009.
 Investigating social discrimination of group members by laying hens. Behav. Process.
 81, 1-13.
- Adams, A.W., Craig, J.V., 1984. Effect of crowding, and cage shape on productivity and profitability of caged layers: a survey. Poult. Sci. 54, 238-242.
- Arave, C.W., Albright, J.L., Armstrong, D.V., Foster, W.W., Larson, L.L., 1992. Effects of isolation of calves on growth, behavior, and first lactation milk yield of Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 75, 3408-3415.
- Arney, D.R. Kitwood, S.E., Phillips, C.J.C., 1994. The increase in activity during oestrus in dairy cows. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 40, 211-218.
- Bøe, K.E., Færevik, G., 2003, Grouping and social preferences in calves, heifers and cows. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 80, 175-190.
- Bowell, V.A., Rennie, L.J., Tierney, G., Lawrence, A.B., Haskell, M., 2003. Relationship between building design, management and dairy cow welfare. Anim.Welfare 12, 547-552.

- Brakel, W.J., Leis, R.A., 1976. Impact of social disorganization on behavior, milk yield, and body weight of dairy cows. J. Dairy. Sci. 59, 716-721.
- CCAC, 2009. Guide to the care and use of experimental animals, in: Olfert, E.D., Cross,B.M., McWilliam, A.A. (Eds.), Canadian Council on Animal Care. Vol.1., Ottawa,Ontario, Canada.
- Caraviello, D.Z., Weigel, K.A., Fricke, P.M., Wiltbank, M.C., Florent, M.J., Cook, N.B., Nordlund, K.V., Zwald, N.R., Rawson, C.L., 2006. Survey of management practices on reproductive performance of dairy cattle on large US commercial farms. J. Dairy. Sci. 89, 4723-4735.
- Cooper, M.D., Arney, D.R., Webb, C.R., Philips, C. J., 2008. Interactions between housed dairy cows during feeding, lying, and standing. J. Vet. Behav.: Clin. Appl. Res. 3, 218-227.
- Dado, R.G., Allen, M.S., 1994. Variation in and relationships among feeding, chewing, and drinking variables for lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy. Sci. 77, 132-144.
- DeVries, T.J., von Keyserlingk, M.A.G., Beauchemin, K.A., 2003. Short communication: Diurnal feeding pattern of lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy. Sci. 86: 4079-4082.

- DeVries, T.J., von Keyserlingk, M.A.G., Weary, D.M., 2004. Effect of feeding space on the inter-cow distance, aggression, and feeding behavior of freestall housed dairy cows. J. Dairy. Sci. 87, 1432-1438.
- DeVries, T. J., von Keyserlingk, M.A.G., 2005. Time of feed delivery affects the feeding and lying patterns of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 88, 625-631.
- DeVries, T.J., von Keyserlingk, M.A.G., 2006. Feed stalls affect the social and feeding behavior of lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 89, 3522-3531.
- Dove, H., Beilharz, R.G., Black, J.L., 1974. Dominance patterns and positional behaviour of sheep in yards. Anim. Prod. 19, 157-168.
- Endres, M.I., Espejo, L.A., 2010. Feeding management and characteristics of rations for high-producing dairy cows in freestall herds. J. Dairy. Sci. 93, 822-829.
- Estevez, I., Andersen, I.E., Nævdal, E., 2007. Group size, density and social dynamics in farm animals. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 103, 185-204.
- Fraser, A.F., Broom, D.M., 2007. Domestic animals behavior and welfare, fourth ed., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom.

- Fraser, D., 2008. Understanding animal welfare: The science in its cultural context. Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford, United Kingdom.
- Fraser, D., Weary, D.M., Pajor, E.A., Milligan, B.N., 1997. A scientific conception of animal welfare that reflects ethical concerns. Anim Welfare 6, 187-205.
- Fregonesi, J.A., Tucker, C.B., Weary, D.M., 2007. Overstocking reduces lying time in dairy cows. J. Dairy. Sci. 90, 3349-3354.
- Gonyou, H.W., Stricklin, W.R., 1998. Effects of floor area allowance and group size on the productivity of growing/finishing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 76, 1326-1330.
- Grant, R.J., Albright, J.L., 2000. Feeding behaviour, in: D'Mello, J.P.F., (Ed.), Farm Animal Metabolism and Nutrition. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, United Kingdom, pp. 365-382.
- Grant, R.J., Albright, J.L., 2001. Effect of animal grouping on feeding behavior and intake of dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 84, 156-163.
- Hasegawa, N., Nishiwaki, A., Sugawara, K., Ito, I., 1997. The effects of social exchange between two groups of lactating primiparous heifers on milk production, dominance order, behavior and adrenocortical response. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 51, 15-27.

- Hill, C.T., Krawczel, P.D., Dann, H.M., Ballard, C.S., Hovey, R.C., Falls, W.A., Grant, R.J., 2009. Effect of stocking density on the short-term behavioral responses of dairy cows.Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 117, 144-149.
- Hindhede, J., Mogensen, L., Sorensen., J.T., 1999. Effect of group composition and feeding system on behaviour, production and health of dairy heifers in deep bedding systems. Acta Agric. Scand. A Anim. Sci. 49, 211-220.
- Houpt, K.A., Keiper, R., 1982. The position of the stallion in the equine dominance hierarchy of feral and domestic ponies. J. Anim. Sci. 54, 945-950.
- Huzzey, J.M., von Keyserlingk, M.A.G., Weary, D.M., 2005. Changes in feeding, drinking, and standing behavior of dairy cows during the transition period. J. Dairy Sci. 88, 2454-2461.
- Huzzey, J.M., DeVries, T.J., Valois, P., von Keyserlingk, M.A.G., 2006. Stocking density and feed barrier design affect the feeding and social behavior of dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 89, 126-133.
- Hyun, Y., Ellis, M., Johnson, R.W., 1998. Effects of feeder type, space allowance and mixing on the growth performance and feed intake pattern of growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 76, 2771-2778.

- Jenkins, T.G., Leymaster, K.A., 1987. Feeding behavior characteristics of intact male lambs as affected by number of lambs in a pen with restricted access to the feed stall. J. Anim. Sci. 65, 422-430.
- Jensen, M.B., Vestergaard, K.S., Krohn, C.C., Munksgaard, L., 1997. Effect of single versus group housing and space allowance on responses of calves during open field tests. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 54, 109-121.
- Keeling, L.J., Gonyou, H.W., 2001. Social behaviour in farm animals, CABI Publishing,Wallingford, United Kingdom.
- Kondo, S., Kawakami, N., Kohama, H., Nishino, S., 1984. Changes in activity, spatial pattern and social-behavior in calves after grouping. Appl. Anim. Ethol. 3, 217-228.
- Kondo, S., Sekine, J., Okubo, M., Asahida, Y., 1989. The effect of group size and space allowance on the agonistic and spacing behaviour of cattle. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 24, 127-135.
- Kondo, S., Hurnik, J., 1990. Stabilization of social hierarchy in dairy cows. Appl. Anim. Behv. Sci. 27, 287-297.
- Lamb, R.C., 1975. Relationship between cow behavior patterns and management systems to reduce stress. J. Dairy Sci. 59, 1630-1636.

- Leone, E.H., Estevez, I., 2008. Use of space in the domestic fowl: Separating the effects of enclosure size, group size and density. Anim. Behav. 76, 1673-1682.
- Maatje, K., de Mol, R.M., Rossing, W., 1997. Cow status monitoring (health and oestrus) using detection sensors. Comput. Elect. Agric.16, 245-254.
- McGlone, J.J., Curtis., S.E., 1985. Behavior and performance of weanling pigs in pens equipped with hide areas. J. Anim. Sci. 60, 20-24.
- Mench, J.A., Swanson, J.C., Stricklin, W.R., 1990. Social stress and dominance among group members after mixing beef cows. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 70, 345-354.
- Mench, J.A., 2003. Assessing animal welfare at the farm and group level: A United States perspective. Anim. Welfare 12, 493-503.
- Mertens, D.R., 1994. Regulation of forage intake, in: G. C. Fahey, Jr. (Ed.), Forage quality, evaluation, and utilization. American Society of Agronomy, Madison, Wisconsin, United States of America. pp. 450-493.
- Metz, J.H.M., 1985. The reaction of cows to a short-term deprivation of lying. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 13, 301-307.

- Miller, K., Woodgush, D.G.M., 1991. Some effects of housing on the social behaviour of dairy cows. Anim. Prod. 53, 271-278.
- Munksgaard, L., Jensen, M.B., Pedersen, L.J., Hansen, S.W., Matthews, L., 2005.Quantifying behavioral priorities-effects of time constraints on behaviour of dairy cows, Bos Taurus. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 92, 3-14.
- Newberry, R.C., Hall, J.W., 1990. Use of pen space by broiler chickens: effects of age and pen size. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 25, 125-136.
- NFACC, 2009. Code of practice for the care and handling of dairy cattle, Dairy Farmers of Canada and the National Farm Animal Care Council. Ottawa, Ontario, Canada.
- Nordlund, K., Cook, N., Oetzel, G., 2006. Commingling dairy cows: pen moves, stocking density and health, in: 39th Proceedings of American Association Bovine Practitioners, St. Paul, Minnesota, United States of America, September 20-24, pp 36-42.
- NRC, 2001. Nutrient Requirements of Dairy Cattle. Seventh rev. ed., National Academy Press, Washington, D.C. United States of America.
- Oden, K., Vestergaard, K.S., Algers, B., 2000. Space use and agonistic behaviour in relation to sex composition in large flocks of laying hens. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 67, 307-320.

- Olofsson, J., 1999. Competition for total mixed diets fed for ad libitum intake using one or four cows per feeding station. J. Dairy Sci. 82: 69-79.
- Phillips, C.J.C., Rind, M.I., 2001. The effects on production and behavior of mixing uniparous and multiparous cows. J. Dairy Sci. 84, 2424-2429.
- Proudfoot, K.L., Veira, D.M., Weary, D.M., von Keyserlingk, M.A.G., 2009. Competition at the feed bunk changes the feeding, standing and social behaviour of transition dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 92, 3116-3123.
- Rushen, J., de Passillé, A.M., von Keyserlingk, M.A.G., Weary, D.M., 2008. The Welfare of Cattle. Springer, Dordrecht, The Netherlands.

Schirmann, K., Chapinal, N., Weary, D.M., Heuwieser, W., von Keyserlingk., M.A.G.2011. Short-term effects of regrouping on behaviour of prepartum dairy cows. J.Dairy Sci. In press

- Simonsen, H.B., Vestergaard, K., Willeberg, P., 1980. Effect of floor type and density on the integument of egg-layers. Poult. Sci. 59, 2202-2206.
- Stookey, J.M., Gonyou, H.W., 1994. The effects of regrouping on behavioral and production parameters in finishing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 72: 2804-2811.

- Val-Laillet, D., Veira, D.M., von Keyserlingk, M.A.G., 2008. Dominance in free stall housed dairy cattle is dependent upon recourse. J. Dairy Sci. 91, 3922-3926.
- Veissier, I., Le Neindre. P., 1989. Weaning in calves: Its effect on social organisation. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 24, 43.
- Veissier, I., Gesmier, V., Le Neindre, P., Gautier, J.Y., Bertrand, G., 1994. The effects of rearing in individual crates on subsequent social behaviour of veal calves. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 41, 199-210.
- Veissier, I., Boissy, A.M., dePassillé, Rushen, J., van Reenen, C.G., Roussel, S., 2001. Calves' responses to repeated social regrouping and relocation. J. Anim. Sci. 79, 2580-2593.
- von Keyserlingk, M.A.G., Olenick, D., Weary D.M., 2008. Acute behavioural effects of regrouping dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 91, 1115-1121.
- Walker, N., 1991. The effects on performance and behaviour of number of pigs per monoplace feeder. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 35, 3-13.

Webster, J., 1994. A cool eye towards Eden. Blackwell Science, Oxford, United Kingdom.

- Weeks, C.A., Danbury, T.D., Davies, H.C., Hunt, P., Kestin, S.C., 2000, The behaviour of broiler chickens and its modification by lameness. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 67, 111-125.
- Wilson, E.O., 2000. Sociobiology: The new synthesis. 25th ed., Harvard University Press, Boston, United States of America.
- Zeeb, K., Bock, C., Heinzler, B., 1988. Control of social stress by consideration of suitable space. In: Zayan, R., Dantzer, R., (Eds.), Social stress in domestic animals, Kluwer Academic Publichers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp. 275-281.